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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

American Security Council
Political Action Committee
Joseph L. Rutherford
as treasurer

CERTIFICATION

I, Marjorie W. Emmons, Secretary of the Federal
Election Commission, do hereby certify that on December 4,
1985, the Commission decided by a vote of 5-0 to take
the following actions in MUR 1974:

1. Accept the conciliation agreement
attached to the General Counsel's
Report signed November 26, 198S5.
Approve the letter to the Respondents
attached to the General Counsel's
Report signed November 26, 1985.

3. Close the file.

Commissioners Aikens, Elliott, Harris, Josefiak and

McGarry voted affirmatively for this decision; Commissioner

McDonald did not cast a vote.

Attest:

[I-4 - £S5 . a/..z. 2. C&mggg(,

Date rjorie W. Emmons
Secretary of the Commission

Received in Office of Commission Secretary: Fri., 11-29-85, 12:20
Circulated on 48 hour tally basis: Mon., 12-2-85, 11:00
Deadline for vote: Wed., 12-4-85, 11:00




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

December 13, 1985

June E. Edmondson

wWilliams & Jensen

1101 Connecticut Avenue, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20036

RE: MUR 1974

Amer ican Security Council
Political Action Committee

Joseph L. Rutherford, as
treasurer

Dear Ms. Edmondson:

On December 4 , 1985, the Commission accepted the
conciliation agreement signed by you and a civil penalty in
settlement of a violation of 2 U.S.C. § 434(a) (4) (A)(i1), a
prové:éon of the Pederal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as
amen s

Accordingly, the file has been closed in this matter and it
will become a part of the public record within thirty days.
However, 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a) (4) (B) prohibits any information
derived in connection with any conciliation attempt from becoming
public without the written consent of the respondent and the
Commission. Should you wish any such information to become part
of the public record, please advise us in writing.

Enclosed you will find a fully executed copy of the final
conciliation agreement for your files.

Sincerely,

N. Steele

. 0o8ss
gssociate General Counsel

~ Enclosure
Conciliation Agreement




BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of
American Security Council MUR 1974
Political Action Committee
Joseph L. Rutherford, as
treasurer
CONCILIATION AGREEMENT
This matter was initiated by the Federal Election Commission
(hereinafter "the Commission®™), pursuant to information ascertained
in the normal course of carrying out its supervisory responsibilities.
The Commission found reason to believe that American Security Council
Political Action Committee and Joseph L. Rutherford, as treasurer,
(hereinafter "the Respondents") violated 2 U.S.C. § 434(a) (4) (A) (ii).
NOW, THEREFORE, the Commission and Respondents, having duly
entered into conciliation pursuant to 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a) (4) (A) (i), do
hereby agree as follows:
Il The Commission has jurisdiction over the Respondents, and
the subject matter of this proceeding.
106 Respondents have had a reasonable opportunity to demonstrate
that no action should be taken in this matter.
III. Respondents enter voluntarily into this agreement with the
Commission.
Iv. The pertinent facts in this matter are as follows:
Lve American Security Council Political Action Committee is a
political committee registered with the Commission.
2. Joseph L. Rutherford is the treasurer of the American

Security Council Political Action Committee.
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3% The Respondents were required to file a 12 Day Pre-General
Election Report on October 25, 1984. Instead, Respondents filed a
November Monthly Report on November 23, 1984, disclosing activity
for the entire month of October.

4. The November Monthly Report disclosed activity from the
pre-general election period (10/1-10/17 1984).

5. On December 17, 1984, Respondents filed the 12 Day Pre-
General Election Report with the Commission.

V. Respondents violated 2 U.S.C. § 434(a) (4) (A) (ii) by failing
to timely file the 12 Day Pre-General Election Report, respondents
contend that such violation was not knowing and wilful.

VI. Respondents will pay a civil penalty to the treasurer of
the United States in the amount of One Hundred Fifty Dollars ($150.00),
pursuant to 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a) (5) (p).

VII. Respondents will institute procedures to ensure that all
Reports of Receipts and Disbursements are filed with the Commission
in a timely manner.

VIII. Respondents agree that they shall not undertake any activity
which is in violation of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as
amended, 2 U.S.C. § 431, et seq.

IX. This agreement shall become effective as of the date all
parties hereto have executed the same and the Commission has approved
the entire agreement.

X. Respondents shall have no more than thirty (30) days from

the date this agreement becomes effective to comply with and implement

the requirements contained in this agreement and to so notify the

Commission.
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XI. The Commission on request of anyone filing a complaint under
2 U.S.C. § 437g(a) (1) concerning the matters at issue herein or on its
own motion, may review compliance with this agreement. If the Commission

believes that this agreement or any requirement thereof has been violated,

it may institute a civil action for relief in the United States District

Court for the District of Columbia.

XII. This Conciliation Agreement constitutes the entire agreement
between the parties on the matters raised herein, and no other state-
ment, promise, or agreement, either written or oral, made by either
party or by agents of either party, that is not contained in this written
agreement shall be valid.

FOR THE COMMISSION:

Charles N. Steele
General Cou

Kenrleth A. oss G{,
Associate General unsel

RESPONDENTS :
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AMERICAN SE
CURITY coun
CIL PoLITI
NATIONAL gge CAL ACTIO
CuRrTY ro;.g":c:v. ACTION comm N cOMMITTEE FKA

8osTon, VIRGINIA 2713

MEMORANDUM
92 RETHA DIXON TO: JOAN HARRIS

FROM: JOAN HARRIS FROM: RETHA %IXON
CHECK NO. /5 (ﬂ (» (a copy of which is attached"F RELATING.
WArriese e r? :

TO MUR jq 7 4 AND NAME/©

was recervep o // = /4 ~RBsEA

WHICH IT SHOULD BE DEPOSITED: é >
/*/ BUDGET CLEARING ACCOUNT (#95P3875.16)
/ / CIVIL PENALTIES ACCOUNT (#95-1099.160)

/ OTHER

SIGNATURE [60%77 EEry W oate 1/ =/ - &5




GCC#301 1
MEMORANDUM

| aihtiiod
TO: k TO: JOAN HARRIS
Rethoo 0o N
: JOAN HARRIS FROM: L
CHECK NO. W (a copy of which is attached) RELATING
TO MUR /974' AND NAME MW CAZ(MW/ P#C /"-/{//71

WAS RECEIVED ON 4 A ﬂ L 71? 5" PLEASE INDICATE THE ACCOUNT INTO
WHICE IT SHOULD B DEPOJTE s o -

AR

~

/ ¥/ BUDGET CLEARING ACCOUNT (#95F3875.16)

/ / CIVIL PENALTIES ACCOUNT (#95:1099.160)
wan

1

/ ./ OTHE ' iy’
SIGNATURE &W/ 72? j‘lﬁﬂ/\/ paTE /- XA ST

—




AMERICAN SECURITY COUNCIL POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE FKA
NATIONAL SECURITY POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE

BOX 8
BOSTON, VIRGINIA 22713 July 18 9_85 %291

1500 |

Treasurer of the United States




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

October 23, 1985

June Edmonson, Esquire
Williams & Jensen

1101 Connecticut Avenue, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20036

RE: MUR 1974

American Security Council
Political Action Committee

Joseph Rutherford, as
treasurer

Dear Ms. Edmonson:

On October 17 , 1985 , the Commission determined that
there is probable cause to believe that The American Security
Council Action Committee and Joseph Rutherford, as tresurer,
committed a violation of 2 U.S.C. § 434(a) (4) (A) (ii), a provision
of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended.

The Commission has a duty to attempt to correct such
violations for a period of thirty to ninety days by informal
methods of conference, conciliation and persuasion. If we are
unable to reach an agreement during this period, the Commission
may institute civil suit in United States District Court and seek
payment of a civil penalty.

We enclose a conciliation agreement that this office is
prepared to recommend to the Commission in settlement of this
matter. If you agree with the provisions of the enclosed
agreement, please sign and return it, along with the civil
penalty, to the Commission within ten days. I will then
recommend that the Commission approve the agreement. Please make
your check for the civil penalty payable to the U.S. Treasurer.

If you have any questions or suggestions for changes in the
enclosed conciliation agreement, please contact Craig M. Engle,
2

Charles N. Steele
General Counsel

Enclosure
Conciliation Agreement




BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of
MUR 1974

Political Action Committee

)
)
American Security Council )
)
Joseph L. Rutherford, as treasurer )

CERTIFICATION

I, Marjorie W. Emmons, recording secretary for the
Federal Election Commission executive session of October 17,
1985, do hereby certify that the Commission decided by a vote
of 6-0 to take the following actions in MUR 1974:

1. Find probable cause to believe that The

American Security Council Political

Action Committee and James C. Rutherford,

as its treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.

§ 434 (a) (4) (A) (i1).

Approve the Conciliation Agreement and

letter attached to the General Counsel's

report signed October 10, 1985.
Commissioners Aikens, Elliott, Harris, Josefiak,

McDonald, and McGarry voted affirmatively for the decision.

Attest:

Marjorie W. Emmons
Secretary of the Commission




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D C 20463

MEMORANDUM

TO: Office of the Commission Secretary

FROM: Office of General Counsel/zfi

DATE: October 11, 1985

SUBJECT: MUR 1974 - General Counsel's Report

The attached is submitted as an Agenda document

for the Commission Meeting of October 17, 1985

Open Session

Closed Session XX

CIRCULATIONS DISTRIBUTION

48 Hour Tally Vote Compliance
Sensitive
Non-Sensitive Audit Matters

24 Hour No Objection Litigation
Sensitive
Non-Sensitive Closed MUR Letters

Information Status Sheets
Sensitive
Non-Sensitive Advisory Opinions

Other (see distribution
Other below)

SENSITIVE

CIRCULATE ON BLUE PAPER

ON AGENDA 10-17-85
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

Political Action Committee
Joseph L. Rutherford, as treasurer

)
American Security Council ; MUR 1974

)

GENERAL COUNSEL'S REPORT
I. BACKGROUND
On April 8, 1985, the Federal Election Commission found

reason to believe that The American Security Council Political
Action Committee and Joseph L. Rutherford, as its treasurer
(hereinafter "ASC-PAC" or "Respondents"), violated 2 U.S.C.
§ 434(a) (4) (A) (ii) by failing to timely file its 12 Day Pre-

General Report.

The General Counsel's

brief recommending probable cause was circulated to the

Commission on August 16, 1985, and the Respondent's brief was

submitted September 5, 1985.




II. FACTUAL AND LEGAL ANALYSIS

For a legal analysis of the Respondents' violations of the

Act, the Office of General Counsel relies upon its brief
circulated to the Commission on August 16, 1985. Furthermore,
Respondents' brief acknowledges their violation of the Act and
simply repeats their initial response to the notification of
reason to believe. Respondents were under the mistaken
assumption that political committees which filed monthly reports
were not required to file a 12 Day Pre-General Report. Relying
on this belief, Respondents erroneously filed only their regular
monthly reports, with their November Report disclosing activity
that should have been reported in a 12 Day Pre-General Report.

Respondents' unawareness of the reporting requirements of
monthly filers during an election year does not excuse the
violation. 1In the Campaign Guide for non-connected committees,
the instructions for monthly filers clearly state:

In lieu of the monthly report due in November...for a
year on which there is a "Regular" November General
Election, a 12 Day Pre-general Election Report must be
filed including all transactions from the closing date
of the last report filed through the 20th day before
the election...

Further, on October 1, 1984, the Office of Public
Information notified all monthly filers that "all committees that
file monthly reports must file the pre-~general election report
due October 15, 1984." Thus, Respondents' had adequate notice of
the filing requirements of 2 U.S.C. § 434 (a) (4) (A) (ii).

Therefore, the Office of General Counsel recommends that the
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Commission find probable cause to believe that Respondents

violated 2 U.S.C. § 434(a) (4) (A) (ii).

IV. RECOMMENDATIONS

1. Find probable cause to believe that The American
Security Council Political Action Committee and James C.
Rutherford, as its treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.
§ 434(a) (4) (A) (ii).

2l

A0 Oclalory QYT

Date Charles N, Steele
General Counsel

Attachments
Proposed Conciliation Agreement
Letter to Respondents




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C 20463

June Edmonson, Esquire
Williams & Jensen

1101 Connecticut Avenue, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20036

RE: MUR 1974

American Security Council
Political Action Committee

Joseph Rutherford, as
treasurer

Dear Ms. Edmonson:

On , 198 , the Commission determined that
there is probable cause to believe that The American Security
Council Action Committee and Joseph Rutherford, as tresurer,
committed a violation of 2 U.S.C. § 434(a) (4) (A) (ii), a provision
of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended.

The Commission has a duty to attempt to correct such
violations for a period of thirty to ninety days by informal
methods of conference, conciliation and persuasion. If we are
unable to reach an agreement during this period, the Commission
may institute civil suit in United States District Court and seek
payment of a civil penalty.

We enclose a conciliation agreement that this office is
prepared to recommend to the Commission in settlement of this
matter. If you agree with the provisions of the enclosed
agreement, please sign and return it, along with the civil
penalty, to the Commission within ten days. I will then
recommend that the Commission approve the agreement. Please make
your check for the civil penalty payable to the U.S. Treasurer.

If you have any questions or suggestions for changes in the
enclosed conciliation agreement, please contact Craig M. Engle,
the attorney assigned to this matter, at (202)523-4000.

Sincerely,

Charles N. Steele
General Counsel

Enclosure
Conciliation Agreement

47 7ACAMENT 264 2
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WILLIAMS & JENSEN
PAUL ARNESON A ProOFEsSsioNAL CORPORATION
GEORGE D. BAKER
WILLIAM T. BRACK LAWYERS
ANN'S. COSTELLO 1HO!I CONNECTICUT AVENUE, N.W.
WINFIELD P. CRIGLER RN ONE
JUNE E. EDMONDSON WASHINGTON, D.C. 200368
JOHN P. FORD
ROBERT E. GLENNON
J. STEVEN HART
ROBERT E. JENSEN
JOHN J. MCMACKIN, JR.
GEORGE G. OLSEN

MARY LYNNE WHALEN
J.D. WILLIAMS September 4, 1985

(202)es9-820!

Charles N. Steele, Esq.
General Counsel

Federal Election Commission
1325 K Street, N.W.

7th Floor

Washington, D.C. 20463

Dear Mr. Steele:

Enclosed are three copies of the Brief of Respondents in
MUR 1974.

Sincerely,

Vsl L

June E. Edmondson

/tls

Enclosure




BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

American Security Council
Political Action Committee
and Joseph L. Rutherford MUR 1974
as Treasurer

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

I. INTRODUCTION

The General Counsel's brief requests that the Commission £find

probable cause to believe that respondents violated the Federal

Election Campaign Act of 1971 ("the Act").
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II. ARGUMENT
A. Respondents' Violation Was Not Knowing Or Willful

Respondents' fundamental error in this matter was that they
believed that political committees which filed monthly were not
required to file pre- and post-general election reports in addition
to monthly reports. See Exhibit 2, Letter of Treasurer. Relying
on this belief, on November 15, 1984, respondents mailed a report
to the Commission disclosing all activity for the month of October
1984. See Exhibit 3, Monthly Report for October. Immediately
upon being informed that a pre-general election report was required,
the treasurer of respondent American Security Council Political

Action Committee, Joseph L. Rutherford, compiled such a report and

mailed it to the Commission on December 5, 1984.:/ See Exhibit 4,

Pre-General Election Report.
Respondents consistently have attempted to comply fully with

the filing obligations of the Act. As stated by Mr. Rutherford,

7] According to General Counsel's pleadings, the filing date
for the pre-general election report is December 17, 1984.
Mr. Rutherford recalls mailing the report on the day it
was signed, December 5, 1984. A similarly long period of
time elapsed between the time that respondents' monthly
report for October was mailed, November 15, 1985, and the
date given in General Counsel's pleadings as the filing
date for that report, November 23, 1984. It is possible
that some part of the eight or twelve days involved in
transit time was spent at the FEC rather than in transit.
To the extent that this is true, it is unfair to penalize
resovondents for the delay.
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the committee elected to file monthly "even though there was more
work involved to insure that the reporting was completed in a

timely manner." See Exhibit 2. As soon as respondents were in-
formed of their error, they brought their reports into compliance.
This is not a case involving a "non~filer." This is, rather, a

case involving a mistake made in an earnest effort to comply with
the Act. Respondents now are aware of the full extent of the filing
obligations applicable to committees reporting monthly.

Both the Act and the Commission's regulations recognize that in
certain circumstances, a treasurer's "best efforts" to comply with
the reporting obligations of the Act will be deemed to constitute
compliance with the Act. 2 U.S.C. §432(i); 11 CFR §104.7 (1985).
These provisions indicate that it is entirely appropriate for the
Commission to consider a treasurer's efforts to comply in addition
to considering whether those efforts met absolutely the objective
reqguirements of the Act.

The record shows that respondents filed a report disclosing
all activity for the month of October. Respondents made their best
efforts to comply with the Act. The violation of applicable report-

ing requirements was not knowing or willful.
B. The Amount At Issue Is Relatively Small

The pre-general election report that was filed by respondents,

in response to the Commission's notice that the October monthly
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report was in error, covered the period October 1, 1984 through
October 17, 1984. Of the committee's expenditures, there were
only two contributions to candidates, one for $250 and one for
$500, for a total of $750. The purpose of the reporting and
disclosure provisions of the Federal Election Campaign Act was,
first and foremost, to ensure complete disclosure of receipts
and expenditures by candidates and their committees. See, e.g.,
S. Rep. No. 689, 93d Cong., 2d. Sess. 2, reprinted in 1974 U.S.
Code Cong. & Ad. News 5587, 5588. The gravity of respondents'
error in this regard may be judged by the amount of respondents'
contributions to candidates that would have been disclosed prior
to the election if respondents had not mistakenly filed a monthly
report for October. That amount is $750.

In considering the constitutionality of the Act's reporting

and disclosure requirements in Buckley v. Valeo, 424 U.S. 1, 96

S.Ct. 612 (1976), the Supreme Court reiterated its repeated finding
in the past that "compelled disclosure, in itself, can seriously
infringe on privacy of association and belief guaranteed by the
First Amendment." Id. at 656. The Court held that the Federal
Election Campaign Act disclosure provisions were justified by
legitimate governmental interests which included providing the
electorate with information "as to where political campaign money
comes from and how it is spent by the candidate” in order to aid

in the evaluation of candidates. Id. at 657. 1In addition, the
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disclosure provisions were justified because they would expose

large contributions and expenditures to the light of publicity,

thereby enabling the detection of post-election special favors.

A third justification for the disclosure provisions was that they
would permit the necessary gathering of data to determine whether
contribution limitations had been violated. 1Id. at 658.

The weighty governmental interests which justified the in-
fringement of First Amendment rights that is caused by compelled
disclosure were directly related to the public's "need to know"
the facts regarding campaign contributions to candidates. This
view is confirmed by literature in the field. See e.g., Schwarz
& Straus, Federal Regulation of Campaign Finance and Political
Activity §1.03[1] (1985) (impetus for Federal Election Campaign
Act of 1971 provided by dangers of spiraling campaign costs, which
included possibility of corruption and undue influence by wealthy
interests). In respondents' case, the failure to timely disclose
campaign contributions involved a total of $750, a relatively

small. amount.

III. CONCLUSION




Respectfully submitted,

‘ S
bl > 7
June E..Edmondson

. WILLIAMS & JENSEN, P.C.
1101 Connecticut Avenue, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20036
(202) 659-8201

Attorneys for Respondents

American Security Council

Political Action Committee
and Joseph L. Rutherford,

as Treasurer




EXHIBIT 2

Ny oy e o=

American Security Council \=27 Political Action Committee

July 2, 1985

Ms. June E. Edmondson
Williams & Jensen

1101 Connecticut Avenue, N.W.
Washington, D. C. 20036

Dear Ms. Edmondson:

Enclosed please find a copy of the original monthly filing by the

American Security Council Political Action Committee for the month
of October, 1984.

As I explained in our conversation, it was my understanding that by
filing monthly reports (instead of quarterly or semiannually reports)
that all reporting requirements to the Federal Election Commission
viould be met. I elected to file monthly even though there was more

work involved to insure that the reporting was completed in a timely
manner.

Also, immediately upon being advised that the 12 day Pre-General
Election Report was required to be filed by the American Security
Council Political Action Committee I immediately took steps to comply
with this request.

If 1 can be of further assistance with this matter please let me know.

Sincerely,

Joseph L. Rutherfor
Treasurer

JLR/jtb

Enclosure

Washington Communications Center 499 South Capitol Street, Suite 500
Boston, Virginia 22713 Washington, D.C. 20003
(703)547-1750 (202) 484-1676




For & Polith . Committes Other Thart an Authorized Comn. s

T ALIGN AREA i ==

(Summary Page)

EXHIBIT 3

| ] ALIGN AREA ]

1.Nome of Committee (In Full)
AMERICAN SECURITY COUNCIL POLITICAL

ACTION COMMITTEE FKA NATIONAL SECURITY
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE

Address (Number and Street)

499 SOUTH CAPITOL STREET, S.W.

City, Swte and 21P Code

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20003

D Check here if address Is ditferent than previously reported.

2.FEC Identificstion Number
C00094144

\!3. D This committee qualified as a multicandidste committes during
this Reporting Period on
\" !

(Dol

4. TYPE OF REPORT (Check appropriste boxes)

{2 D April 186 Quarterly Report D October 16 Quarmerly Report
[ v 18 0uanerty oot [ sarary 31 Yeur End Report
D July 31 Mid Yeer Report (Non-Election Yesr Only)

[X] Monthly Report for ___OCTOBER 31, 1984

D Twalfth day report preceding

(Type of Riuseion)

election on in the State of

D Thirtieth dey report following the General Election

on in the State of

D Termination Report
(b} 15 this Report an Amendment?

[ ves [x] no

o SUMMARY

- 6.Covering Pesiod _JAN, 1,1984 _ vwough OCTOBER 31, 1984

7™ 6.(s) Cash on hand January 1, 19_84

(b) Cash on Hand st Beginning of Reporting Period

Q
(c) Tota! Receipts {from Line 18)
e
(d) Subtota! (sdd Lines 6(b) end 6(c) for Column A and
Lines 6(s) and 6!c) for Column B)
<~ 7.Towsl Disbursements (from Line 28)

-

8.Cash on Hand at Close of Reporting Period (subtrect Line 7 from Line 6(d))

COLUMN A
This Period

COLUMN B
Calendar Yearto-Dete

$ 65,843.61

Pt

$ 54.252.81

895. 50 $188,361.91

$254,205.52
$242,913.77

$ 55.148.31
$ 43,856.56

$ 11,291.75 $ 11,291.75

9.Debts and Obligations Owed TO The Committee
(Itamize 8!l on Schedule C or Schedule D)

10.Debdts and Obligations Owed BY the Committes
(1temize a!l on Schedule C or Schedule D)

4 .00 g

: A
.00

1 cortity that | have examined this Report end 10 the best of My knowledge 8nd belie!
R is ue, correct and complets.

NOVEMBER 15, 1984
Dets

the peraon signing this report t3 the perulties 0f 2US.C. § 4379

AR provieus versions of FEC FORM 3 and FEC FORM 30 50 shuniors end shou'd 0o longar be wead.

FEC FORM 3X (3/80)




\ of Reoelpts and Disbursements
= - __(Pege 2, FEC FORM 3X) -
Mere ¢ Commmun i Pul!  AMERICAN S ITY COUNCIL POLITICAL 1
ACTION COMMITTEE FKA NATIONAL SECURITY POLITICAL ACTIOR To: M
COMMITTEE - COLUMN A+ COLUMN B
) Total This Period ‘Caloncar Year-To-Dets
1. RECEIPTS L Lol e S R
11.CONTRIBUTIONS (other than loans) FROM: ; E e Rl A e AL U 7
{a) Individus!s/Persons Other Than Politicsl Committees. . .. ... ..... ...
(Memo Entry Unitemized $ 845.50 )
(B)Political Party CoOmmIttens . . oo o o e ¢ e o oot enovsoreconensens
(c) Other Political COMMITIONS. . « . ¢« c o v v o e v oo onvncoocesonns
(d) TOTAL CONTRIBUTIONS (other then toans) {sdd 11(a), 11(b) and 11(c)) .

12. TRANSFERS FROM AFFILIATED/OTHER PARTY COMMITTEES. . . . .

13.ALL LOANS RECEIVED . ..........

14.LOAN REPAYMENTS RECEIVED. .......

16.REFUNDS OF CONTRIBUTIONS MADE TO FEDERAL CANDIDATES
AND OTHER POLITICAL COMMITTEES
17.0THER RECEIPTS (Dividends, Interest,etc.). . . ......

1

18.TOTAL RECEIPTS (Add 11{d), 12, 13, 14, 15, 16 and 17) 188 361 91

. I1. DISBURSEMENTS e e e
19.0PERATING EXPENDITURES. . . . .. ... . 3 923 00 11 132.60

«“—7
Pt e o S T e AR

W TRy S adies gV ey

21.CONTRIBUTIONS TO FEDERAL CANDIDATES AND . . » . 1.
OTHER POLITICAL COMMITTEES X3 By s 5t '
22.INDEPENDENT EXPENDITURES (use Schedule E)

23.COORDINATED EXPENDITURES MADE BY PARTY COMMITTEES
(2U.S.C. §441 a(d)) (Use Schedule F)
24.LOAN REPAYMENTS MADE

T e var it Srt o
e AT oy NS

25.LOANS MADE ..

(ot ¥,‘p-f;~-“,.
s 1‘.‘ 54

26.REFUNDS OF CONTRIBUTIONS TO 3
(s} Individusis/Persons Other Than Political Committess
(b} Political Party Committses
{c) Other Politica! Committees. . . .
(d) TOTAL CONTRIBUTION REFUNDS (Add 26(s), 26(b) and 26(c)). . . . ...

27.0THER DISBURSEMENTS . .. . .....c..cc0vevnn

28.TOTAL DISBURSEMENTS (add lines 19, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26(d) snd 27).

U1l. NET CONTRIBUTIONS AND NET OPERATING EXPENDITURES

29.TOTAL CONTRIBUTIONS (other then foans) fromLine 1W{d} . ..........
30.TOTAL CONTRIBUTION REFUNDSfromLIne26(d) . . . ........0c...
31.NET CONTRIBUTIONS (other then loens) (Subtract Line 30 from Line 29) . . . .

32.TOTAL OPERATING EXPENDITURES fromLine 19 . ........... 3,923.00 11 132.60
33.0FFSETS TO OPERATING EXPENDITURES from Line 15 . .
34.NET OPERATING EXPENDITURES (Subtract Line 33 from Line 32) 3,923.00 11,132.60




SCHEDULE A ITEMIZED RECEIPTS (Uve 8900rat0 sohea ToeT for suh
. entegory of the Detsited

Summary Page)

Any information copied from such Reports or Steterment may not be soid or veed by any person for the Pinpou of soliciting contributions or for
commercial purposes, other then using the name end address of eny poiitics! committee to solicit contributions from such committes,
Name of Committee (in Full) AMERICAN SECURITY COUNCIL POLITICAL ACT

SECURITY POLITICAL ACTION COHHITTE!
A. Full Name, Mailing Address and 2P Code

Mr. J.R.X, Boline
1200 Nicollet Mall Apartment 620

Name of Employer Date (month,
Information requested doy, yeer)
in letter dated

Amount of Each
Receipt this Period

Minneapolis, Mn. 55403 :

November 15, 1984

O Other (specify):

Receipt For: D Primary D General

Occupation

10/10/84

Aggrezate Yearto-Date-§ 210.00

$50.00

8. Full Name, Mailing Addrews and ZIP Code

Name of Employer

Receipt For: O Primary O Genera!
O Other (specify):

Occwstion -

Dete (month,

day, vesr)

Aggregate Yearto-Dete—~$

Amount of Each
Receipt This Period

C. Full Name, Mailing Address snd ZIP Code

7

Name of Empioyer

Receipt For: D Primary D General
O Other (specify):

Occupation

) Dete {(month,

day, year)

Aggregate Year-to-Date—$

Amount of Each
Receipt This Period

D. Fuil Naii;c, Mailing Address and ZIP Code

Name of Employer

Receipt For: O Primary O General
O Other (specify):

Occupation

Date (month,

day, vesr)

Aggregate Year-to-Date—$

Amount of Each
Receipt This Period

€. Full Name, Mailing Address and ZIP Code

Name of Employer

Receipt For: O Primary O General
O Other {specity):

Occupation

Date (month,

day, vear)

Aggrezate Year-to-Date—$

Amount of Each
Receipt This Period

F. Full Name, Mailing Address and ZIP Code

Name of Employer

Receipt For: D Primary O General
O Other (specify):

Occupstion

Date (month,

day, vear)

Aggregate Year-to-Date—-$

Amount of Esch
Receipt This Period

G. Full Name, Mailing Address and ZIP Code

Name of Employer

Receipt For: O Primary O Genera!
O Other (specity):

-Gccupstion

Date (month,

day, year)

Aggregate Year-to-Dete—-$

Amount of Esch
Receipt This Period

SUBTOTAL of Receipts This Page (optionai)

TOTAL This Period {iast page this line number only)




cotegory of the Detalles
Summery Page)

Any Inlormation copied from such Reports and Strtements May Not be 50id or used by any Person for the purpos of soliciting contributions or tor
commaercial purposes, other then using the name and eddress of any politics! committes to solicit contributions from such committee.

Name of Committes (in Full)  AMPRICAN SECURITY COUNCIL POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE FKA NATIONAL

SECURITY POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE

A. Full Kame, Malling Addres end ZIP Code

COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION OF AMERIC

ONE DIRECT MARKETING PLAZA
BOSTON, VIRGINIA 22713

Purpose of Disburement
UPDATE MASTER FILE

Disbursement for: D Primary OGeners!
D Other (specify):

Dete (month,
day, yeer)

10/26/84

Amount of Each
Disbursement This Period

$ 73.00

8. Full Name, Mailing Addrems and ZIP Code

T.V. Documentaries Intermational, In

Washington, D.C. 20022
BOX 24085

Purpose of Disdbursement

-*T.V.Commercialg

—

Disbursement for: O Primary
D Other (specify):

Date (month,
day, year)

10/10/84

Amount of Each
Disbursement This Period

$3,850.00

C. Full Name, Mailing Address and ZiP Code

Purpose of Disbursemaent

Disbursement for: D Primary
O Other (specity):

Dste (month,
day, year)

Amount of Each
Disbursement This Period

D. Full Name, Mailing Addres and 2IP Code

!

Purpose of Disbursement

Disbursement for: CPrimary O Geners!

D Other (specity):

Daie {(month,
day, year)

Amount of Each
Disbursement This Period

€. Full Nema, Mailing Address and ZIP Code

Purpose of Disbursement

Disbursement for: OPrimary O General

D Other (specity):

Date (month,
day, vear)

Amount of Each
Disbursement This Period

F. Full Name, Mailing Address and ZIP Code

Purpose of Disbursement

Disbursement for: OPrimary O Genersl!

O Other (specity):

Oste (month,
day, year)

Amount of Each
Disbursement This Period

G. Full Name, Mailing Addres and ZIP Code

Purpose of Disbursement

Disbursement for: OPrimary O General

D Other (specity):

Dete (month,
day, year)

Amount of Each :
Disbursement This Period :

H. Full Name, Mailing Address and ZIP Code

Purpose of Disbursement

Disbursement for: D Primary
0 Other (specity):

Amount of Each
Disbursement This Period

1. Full Name, Maliing Address and ZIP Code

Purpose of Disbursement

Disbursement for: OPrimary
O Other (pecify):

Deste lmonﬂ_'s.
day, vesr)

Amount of Each
Disbursement This Period

SUBTOTAL of Disbursernents This Page (optionsl) . . . .

TOTAL This Period (last page this lne numberonty) . .........

$3,923.00




cotegory of the Detalies

Summaery Pege)

Any Informgtion copled from such Reports and Ststements mey not be sold or used by any Person for the purpose of soliciting contributions or tor
commercis! purposes, other than wiing the name and address of any politics’ committes to solicit contributions from such committes.

Name of Committes (in Full)

AMERICAN SECURITY COUNCIL POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE FKA NATIONAL
SECURITY POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE

A. Full Name, Malling Address end ZIP Code
CONGRESSMAN BEN ERDREICH
BOX 751

BIRMINGHAM, A. 35203

Purpose of Dibursement
FUNDRAISER

Disbursemant for: OPrimary RGeners!
O Other (soecity):

Dete (month,

day, vesr)

10/05/84

Amount of Each
Disbursement This Period

$250.00

8. Full Name, Mailing Address and Z P Code
HERB BATEMAN FOR CONGRESS COMMITTEE
BOX 1668

GRAFTON, VA. 23692

Purpose of Disbursement

FUNDRAISER

Disbursement for: OPrimary 1 General
O Other (specity):

Date (month,

day, year)
10/12/84

Amount of Esch
Disbursement This Period

$500.00

C. Full Name, Mailing Address snd ZIP Code

CAPITOL VIEW CATERING, INC.
2725 PENNSYLVANIA AVENUE, S.E.
WASHINGTON, D.C., 20020

Purpose of Ditbursement
In Kind Contribution

CONGRESSMAN DEL LATTA

Disbursement for: OPrimary xGmeul
O Other (secity):

Date (month,

day, year)

10/20/84

Amount of Esct
Disburiement This Period

$212.00

D. Fu!l Name, Mailing Address and ZIP Code
DAVE CHRISTIAN FOR CONGRESS
7405 RT. 13

LEVITTOWN, PA. 19055

Purpose of Dibursement
FUNDRAISER

Disbursement for: DPrimary 2 Genersl
D Other (soecity):

Date (month,

day, vear)

10/23/84

Amount of Eact
Disbursement This Period

$1,000.00

€. Full Name, Mailing Address and ZIP Code
DEAN GALLO FOR CONGRESS
ROUTE 21,10 EAST

EAST HANOVER, N.J. 07936

Purmpose of Disbursement

FUNDRAISER

Disbursermnent for: OPrimary R General
D Other (soecify):

Dste (month,

day, vear)

10/23/84

Amount of Eact.
Disbursement This Period

$1,000.00

F. Full Name, Mailing Address and ZIP Code
KOLBE FOR CONGRESS

BOX 31568

TUCSON, AZ. 85751

Purpose of Disbursement

FUNDRAISER

Disbursement for: OPrimary X Genersl
O Other (soecify):

Date (month,
day, year)

10/23/84

Amount of Eact
Disbursement This Period

$1,000.00

G. Full Name, Mailing Address and ZIP Code

JACK LOUSMA FOR SENATE
BOX 12071
LANSING, MC 48901

Purpose of Disbursement

[FUNDRAISER

Disbursement for: OPrimary X Genersl
D Other (ecity):

Date (month,

day, year)

10/23/84

Amount of Each

Disbursement This Period
$1,000.00

H. Full Name, Mailing Address and ZIP Code

KEN MCMILLIAN FOR CONGRESS COMMITTEE
BOX 392
GALESBURG, IL. 61401

Purpose of Dubursement

FUNDRAISER

Disbursement for: DPrimary 32 Geners!
D Other {specity):

Date (month,

day, year)
10/23/84

Amount of Each
Disbursement This Period
$1,000.00

1. Full Name, Mailing Address and ZIP Code
CITIZENS FOR TOM RITTER
6674 DIXIE HIGHWAY
CLARRSTON, MI 48016

Purpose of Dsbursement
RAISER

Disburssment for: DOPrimary 2 Geners!
O Other (pecity):

Dete (month,

dey, year)
10/23/84

Amount of Esch
Disbursement This Period

$1,000.00

SUBTOTAL of Disbursements This Page (optional)

$6,962.00

TOTAL This Period (last page this line number only)




estegory of the Detalted
Summery Pege)

Any Information copied from such Reports end Btatements mey not be 5018 or wsed by any person for the purpom of soliciting contributions or for
commarcisl purposes, other then using the neme and sddress of any political committes to solicit eontributions from such committes.

Name of Commintee (in Full)

AMERICAN SECURITY COUNCIL POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE FRA NATIONAL
SECURITY POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE

A. Full Name, Walling Address and ZIP Code

BOX 608
PEARISBURG, VA. 24134

JEFF STAFTORD FOR CONGRESS COMMITTEE

Purpose of Disbursement
FUNDRATISER

Disburssment for: D Primery 2 General
O Other (specify):

Dete {month,
day, vesr)

10/23/84

Amount of Each
Ditbursement This Period

$1,000.00

8. Full Name, Mailing Address end ZIP Code
JACKIE MCGREGOR FOR CONGRESS
BOX 3375

FALLS CEURCH, VA. 22043

Purposs of Disbursement

FUNDRAISER

Dibursement 1or:ﬁDLhimorv‘5 Geners!
O Other (tpecity):

Date (month,
day, year)

10/23/84

Amount of Esch
Disbursament This Period
$ 500.00

C. Full Name, Mailing Address and Z1P Code
FRIENDS OF DENNY SMITH

BOX 12868

SALEM, OREGON 97309

Purpose of Disbursement

%UNDRAISER

Disbursement for: OPrimary 3 General
O Other (specity):

Date (month,
day, year)

10/23/84

Amount of Esch
Disbursement This Period

$ 500.00

D. Full Name, Mailing Address end ZIP Code
JACK HIGHTOWER FOR CONGRESS
BOX 1973

VERNON, TEXAS 76384

Purpose of Disbursement
FUNDRAISER

Disbursement for: OPrimary JP Geners!
D Other (specity):

Dete (month,
day, year)

Amount of Each
Disbursement This Period

10/23/84 | $2,500.00

E. Full Narne, D_ohlling Address and ZIP Code
CAPITOL VIEW CATERING, INC.
2725 PENNSYLVANIA AVE.,S.E.
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20020

Pu f Di
IN KIND CONTRIBUTION

bADL ANIBOLI

Disbursement for: OPrimary 3P General
O Other (specity):

Date {month,
day, year)
10/26/84

Amount of Each
Disbursement This Period

$1,130.00

F. Full Name, Mailing Address and ZIP Code

CAPITOL VIEW CATERING, INC.
2725 PENNSYLVANIA AVE. S.E.
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20020

Pumpose of Disbursement
IN RKIND CONTRIBUTION

STAN PARRIS COMMITTEE

Disbursement for: OPrimary “O General
D Other (specify):

Amount of Each

Disbursement This Period
$212.00

Dete (month,

day, yeasr)
10/26/84

G. Full Nama, Mailing Address and ZIP Code
RANDY PATCHETT FOR CONGRESS

BOX 362
MARION, IL. 62959

Purpose of Disbursement
FUNDRAISER

Disbursement for: OPrimary JP General
O Other (secity):

Dete (month,
day, year)

Amount of Esch
Disbursement This Period

10/26/84 | $500.00

H. Full Name, Mailing Addrass snd ZIP Code
BOB DORNAN IN '84

BOX 5046

BUENA PARK, CA. 90622-5046

Purpose of Disbursement
FUNDRAISER

Disbursement for: OPrimary 3P Geners!
D Other {specity):

Date (month,
day, year)

10/26/84

Amount of Each
Disbursement This Period

$500.00

I. Full Nerne, Mailing Addras and ZIP Code
HERB BATEMAN FOR CONGRESS
BOX 1668 ™,

GRAFTON, VIRGINIA 23692

Purpose of Disbursement
FUNDRAISER

Disbursemnent for: DPrimary 3O Geners!
O Other (mpecity):

Date (month,
day, vesr)

10/26/84

Amount of Each
Disbursement This Period

$250.00

SUBTOTAL of Disburzements This Page (0PHIONS!) . . « o o« oo ve oo veeeoeonesscoseesanseennennnasd

$7,092.00

TOTAL This Period (iast page this line number onty)




enquvo!énbmﬂﬁe'

Summary Pege)

Any Information copled from such Reports end Sratements may not be s0id or used by any person for the purpose of soliciting contributions or for
commercial purposes, other than using the name and eddress of any politics’ comymittes to solicit contributions from such committes.

Nsme of Committee (in Futl)

AMERICAN SECURITY COUNCIL POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE FKA NATIONAL
SECURITY POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE

A. Full Kame, Maliing Addres end ZIP Code
CAPITOL VIEW CATERING, INC.
2725 PENNSYLVANIA AVENUE
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20020

Purpose of Disburseme
IN KIND CO\'TRIBUTION

GREGG HYATT COMMITTEE

dey, vear)
10/31/84

Disbursement for: OPrimary RGenera!
O Other (ecity):

Dete (month,

Amount of Esch
Disbursement This Period

$972.00

8. Full Name, Mailing Address and ZIP Code
MARK MICHAELSON FOR CONGRESS
BOX 807

MARSHFIELD, WI. 54449

Purpose of Disbursement
FUNDRAISER

day, vear)

10/31/84

Disburserment for: DLPrimuy;P Genersl
O Other (pecity):

Date (month,

Amount of Each
Disbursement This Period

$1,000.00

C. Full Name, Mailing Addres and ZIP Code

RE-ELECT CONGRESSMAN BILL BONER-1984
BOX 23980

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20026-0980

Purpose of Disbursement

FUNDRAISER

day, year)

Disbursernent for: DPrimary X Geners!
D Other (secity):

10/31/84

Dete (month,

Amount of Esch
Disbursement This Period

$ 500.00

[ . Full Kame, Msiling Address and ZIP Code

JOHN BREAUX RE-ELECTION COMMITTEE
7116 BURTONWOOD DRIVE

ALEXANDRIA, VIRGINIA 22307

Purpose of Disbursement
FUNDRAISER

day, year)

_|10/31/84

Disburserment for: OPrimary X Geners!
D Other bpecity):

Date (month,

Amount of Esch
Disbursement This Period

$ 500.00

€. Full Name, Mailing Address and ZIP Code
BRYON FOR CONGRESS

BOX 1188
FREDERICK, MD 21701

Purpose of Disbursement
FUNDRAISER

Date (month,
ear)

10/31 84

Disbursernent for: OPrimary R Genersl
O Other (oecity):

Amount of Esch
Disbursement This Period

$ 500.00

F. Full Name, Mailing Address and ZIP Code
BUDDY DARDEN FOR CONGRESS

BOX 2884
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20013

Purpose of Dabursement
FUNDRAISER

Dete (month,

10/31/84

Disbursement for: OPrimery--1 Genera!
O Other {soecity):

day, year)

Amount of Each
Disbursement This Period

$1,000.00

G. Full Name, Mailing Address and 2ZIP Code

KEKA DE LA GARZA FOR CONGRESS COMMITTEE

BOX 1060
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20013

Purpose of Dsbursement
FUNDRAISER

Dete {(month,
day, year}
10/31/84

Disbursement for: OPrimary R Geners!
O Other (ecity):

Amount of Each
Disbursement This Period

500.00

H. Full Name, Mailing Address snd ZIP Code

ROY DYSON FOR CONGRESS
ROUTE ONE, BOX 177-A
ACCOKEEK, MD. 20607

Purpose of Dabursement
FUNDRAISER

Date (month,
dey, vesr)

10/31/84

Disbursement for: D Primary EG&MM!
0 Other bpecity):

Amount of Each
Disbursement This Period

$500.00

1. Full Neme, Mailing Address end ZWP Code

BEN ERDREICH FOR CONGRESS COMMITTEE
BOX 751

BIRMINGHAM, AL. 35203

Purpose of Dsburssment
FUNDRAISER

Dete (month,
day, vear)

0/31/84

Disbursement for: DPrimary 8 Geners!

O Other (pecity):

Amount of Each

Disbursement This Period | il

$750.00

SUBTOTAL of Disbursements ThisPage (optionsl) .. . ... .c.civcereececensecsocecnncsonoes 500 pod

_$6,222 .00

TOTAL This Period (last page this line number only)




category of the Detslled -

-

Summery Pege)

Any information copied from such Reports and Statements may not be sold or used by any person for the purpom of soliclting contributions or for
commercial purpoms, other than wing the name and address of eny politics! committes to solicit contributions from such committes.

Name of Committes (in Full)

3

AMERICAN SECURITY COUNCIL POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE FKA NATIONAL
SECURITY POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE

A, Full Name, Malling Addrems and ZIP Code
RONNIE G. FLIPPO COMMITTEE
BOX 1221

FLORENCE, AL. 35631

3

Purpose of Disbursement
FUNDRAISER

Disbursement for: OPrimery EGeners)
O Other (specify):

Dsts (month,
day, yesr)

10/51784

Y

Amount of Each
Ditdursement This Period

$ 750.00

l Full Name, Mailing Address end i' Code
DON FUQUA CONGRESSIONAL CAMPAIGN
17300 SOPER STREET

POOLESVILLE, MD. 20837

Purpose of Disbursement
FUNDRAISER

Disbursement for: OPrimary R General
O Onher (specify):

Date {month,
day, yesr)

10/31/84

Amount of Esch
Disbursement This Period

$ 500.00

C. Full Name, Mailing Address snd ZIP Code

RALPH HALL POR CONGRESS COMMITTEE
BOX 711

ROCKWELL, TEXAS 75087

Purpose of Disbursement
FUNDRAISER

day, yesr)

Disbursement for: DPrimery R Genera!
O Other (specity):

10/31/84

Date (month,

Amount of Each
Disbursement This Period

$ 750.00

D. Full Neme, Mailing Address and ZIP Code
SAM BALL FOR CONGRESS

501 SEADYWOOD ROAD
MARSEALL, TEXAS 75670

Purpose of Disbursement
FUNDRAISER

0 f)
10751784

Disbursement for: OPrimary R Geners!
O Other (specity):

Date {(month,

Amount of Each
Disbursement This Period

$ 500.00

€. Full Narrie, Mailing Address and ZIP Code
FRIENDS OF HOWELL HEFLIN
BOX 1984

TUSCUMBIA, AL. 35674

Purpose of Disbursement
FUNDRAISER

day, year)
10/31/84

Disbursement for: OPrimary % General
O Other (specify):

Date (month,

Amount of Esch
Disbursement This Period

$1,000.00

F. Full Name, Mailing Address and ZIP Code

BILL HEFNER FOR CONGRESS COMMITTEE
9632 PODIUM DRIVE
VIENNA, VA. 22180

Purpose of Disbursement
FUNDRAISER

day, vesr)
10/31/84

Disbursement for: OPrimary 3 General
O Other (specify):

Oate (month,

Amount of Each
Disbursement This Period

$ 500.00

JACK HIGHTOWER FOR CONGRESS
BOX 1973
[VERNON,

g

TEXAS 76384 N
2 I/

G. Full Name, Mailing Address and ZIP Code )

Purpose of Disbursement
FUNDRAISER

day, year)
10/31/84

Disbursermnent for: DPrimary 3D Genera!
O Other (specity):

Dete (month,

Amount of Each
Disbursement This Period
$1,000.00

H. Full Name, Mailing Address snd ZIP Code

OLL HUBBARD FOR CONGRESS COMMITTEE
562

PUDUCAE, KY. 42002

BOX

Purpose of Disbursement

FUNDRAISER

day, year)
10/31/84

Disbursement for: OPrimary 3O Genera!
O Other (specity):

Date (month,

Amount of Each
Disbursement This Period

$ 500.00

1. Full Narme, Mailing Address and ZIP Code

JERRY HUCRABY RE-ELECT COMMITTEE
X 24026~ S.W. STATION
ASHINGTON, D.C. 20024

Purpose of Disbursement
FUNDRAISER

dey, year)
10/31/84

Disburssment for: DPrimary &Geners!

Date (month,

Amount of Each
Disbursement This Period
$ 500.00

SUBTOTAL of Disbursements This Page (optional)

$6,000.00

TOTAL This Period (last page this line number only)




SCHEDULE B

@ i7emiZED DISBURSEMENTS @)

Page

LINE NUMBER

(Use separate schedule(s) for asch
estegory of the Detalied

) o

Summaery Page)

Any information copled from such Reports and Stastements May Not be sold or used Dy any person for the purpose of soliciting euwlamw or for
commercial purpoms, other then using the name and address of eny political committee to solicit contributions from such committes. ]

SECURITY POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE

Neme of Committes (in Full) - AMERICAN SECURITY COUNCIL POLITICAL ACTION COMITTEE FRA NATIONAL

A, Full Name, Mailing MCMMZI’M ,
EARL HUTTO FOR CONGRESS CAMPAIGN
BOX 230

PANAMA CITY, FL 23402

Purpose of Disbursement

FUNDRAISER

Dete (month,
day, vear)

10/31/84

Disdurssment for: OPrimery X Geners!
D Other (specity):

Amount of Each
Disbursement This Pericd

$ 500.00

8. Full Neme, Malling Addres and Z#P Code
MARVIN LEATH FOR CONGRESS
BOX 263

KILLEEN, TX 76540

Purpose of Disbursement

| FUNDRAISER

Oste (month,

’ )
h0/31)%%

Oisbursement for: OPrimary 3 Geners!
D Other (specity):

Amount of Each
Disbursement This Period
$ 500,00

C. Full Name, Mailing Address and ZIP Code

ELLIOTT LEVITAS CAMFAIGN COMMITTEE
BOX 984
DECATUR, GA 30031

Purpose of Disbursement

FUNDRAISER

Date (month,
day, year)

.| Disbursemnent for:

O Primary 32 General
O Other (specity):

10/31/84

Amount of Each
Disbursement This Period

$ 750.00

D. Full Name, Mailing Address and ZIP Code

COMMITTEE TO RE-ELECT MARILYN LLOYD
1425 4th ST., S.W. BOX 8713
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20024

Purpose of Disbursement
FUNDRAISER

Date (month,
day, yesr)

Disbursement for: OPrimary GSeneral
O Other specity): :

10/31784

_ | Disbursement This Period

Amount of Each

$ 250.00

E. Full Name, Mailing Address and ZIP Code

DAVE MCCURDY FOR CONGRESS CO}MITTEE
BOX 1267

NORMAN, OK 73070

Purpose of Disbursement
FUNDRAISER

Date (month,

day, yesr)
10/31/84

Disbursement for: OPrimary X0 Geners!
O Other (specify):

Amount of Each
Disbursement This Period
$ 500.00

F. Full Name, Mailing Address and ZIP Code
COMMITTEE TO RE=ELECT DAN MICA
BOX 2884

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20013

Purpose of Disbursement

FUNDRAISER

Date {(month,
day, year)

10/31/84

Disbursement for: OPrimary XGeneral
O Other (specify):

Amount of Each
Disbursement This Period

$1,000.00

G. Full Name, Mailing Address snd ZIP Code
MURTEA FOR RE-ELECTION COMMITTEE
BOX 1091

JOHNSTOWN, PA 15907

Purpose of Disbursement
FUNXDRAISER

Date (month,
day, year)

Disbursement for: OPrimery £ Genersl
O Other ispecity):

10/31/84

Amount of Esch
Disbursement This Period |
$ 500.00

H. Full Name, Mailing Address and ZIP Code

SON'S NEIGHBORS
CONGRESSMAN BILL NELSON
+82 NORTH HARBOR CITY BLVD.

Purpose of Disbursement
[FUNDRAISER

Date (month,

10 £91.78%'

Disbursement for: OPrimary X Geners!
0 Orther (specify):

Amount of Each
Disbursement This Period

$ 500.00

L St R g 23riad end ZWP Code

DRTIZ FOR CONGRESS COM(ITTEE
X 75610
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20013

Purpose of Disbursement
FUNDRAISER -

Dete (month,
day, year)

Disbursement for: OPrimery ¥ Genera!

10/31/84

Amount of Each
Disbursement This Period
$ 500.00

SUBTOTAL of Disbursements This Page (optionat)

TOTAL This Period (lsst page this line number only)

$5,000.00




ECHEDULE B

e ’gr: ;

&)

lTEMlZED DISBURSEMEN

16 Mg

LINE nwun’—e?

(Use separste mum for ssch
category of the Detalled

Summary Pege)

Any Informastion capled from such Reports and Ratements may not be sold or used by any person for the purpom of soliciting contributions or for
commercis! purposes, other then using the name and sddrems of sny palitical committee to solicit contributions from such committes.

Name of Committes (in Fult)
SECURITY POLITICAL ACTIGN COHHITTEE 1

Il

35 e

2

AMERICAN SECURITY OQUNCIL POLITICAL AC'I'ION COWII‘I'I'!E FRA NATIONAL

c

A. Fufl Namae, Melling Address end ZIP Code

BILL PATMAN FOR CONGRESS COMM
DRAWER A 5

t £E

Purposs of Disbursement
FUNDRAISER

GANADO, TX 77962

v
-

Duburssment for: OPrimary X2 Geners!
D Other (specity):

Dete {month,

day, yeer)
10/31/84

Amount of Each
Disbursement This Pericd

$1,000.00

8. Full Neme, Malling Addres snd ZIP Code
RICHARD RAY FOR CONGRESS CAMPAIGN FU|
BOX 1352

PERRY, GA. 31069

Purpome of Disbursement
FUNDRAISER

Disbursement for: O Primary 20 General
O Other (specity):

Oute (month, ,

day, yeer)

10/31/84

Amount of Esch
Disbursement This Period

. $ 500.00

C. Ful Name, Mailing Address and ZIP Code

THE BUDDY ROEMER COMMITTEE ‘,r‘/

610 MARSHALL STREET A

800 LANE BUILDING : 1 o
' 21101 J !

Purpooe of Diwummm

! FUNDRAISER

..{ Disbursement far: OPrimary X0 General

O Ozher {specify):

Dsts {month,

day, ysar)

10/31/84

Amount of Each

.| Disbursement This Period

- § 500.00

D. Full Name, Mailing Addres and 2P Code

RICHARD SHELBY CAMPAIGN COMMITTEE
BOX 109]
TUSCALOOSA, AL 35403

Purpoee of Disburssment
FUNDRAISER

Ditbursement for: O Primery 30 General
O Other (specify):

Dete (month,

) )
1075178

- Amount of Each
Disbursement This Period

$ 500.00

E. Fult Nems, Malling Address and ZIP Code
NORMAN SISISKY FOR CONGRESS COMHI'I'I‘
BOX 4139

PETERSBURG, VA. 23803

Purpose of Disbursement
EE FUNDRAISER

Disbursement for: O Primary X General
O Other (specity):

Date (month,

167584

Amount of Each
Disbursement This Period

$ 500.00

F. Full Name, Malling Address and ZIP Code

IKE SKELTON FOR CONGRESS COMMITTEE
BOX A

HARRISONVILLE, MO 64701

Purpose of Disbursement
FUNDRAISER

Disbursement for: OPrimary OGenersl
O Other (specity):

Date (month,
day, yesr)

10/31/84

Amount of Each
Disbursement This Period

$ 500.00

G. Full Name, Mailing Address and ZIP Code
CHARLES STENHOLM FOR CONGRESS COMMIT
BOX 1032

Purpose of Disbursement

TEE FUNDRAISER

STAMFORD, TX 79553

Disbursement for: OPrimary 3O Geners!
O Orher (specity):

Dets (month,
day, yeer)
10/31/84

Amount of Each
Disbursement This Period

$ 500.00

H. Full Name, Mailing Address and 2IP Code -

BILLY TAUZIN COMMITTEE
BOX 348

Purpose of Disburssment
FUONDRAISER

FRANKLIN, LA 70538

Disbursement for: OPrimary 30 Geners!
0O Orher (specify):

Date (month,
dey, yesr)
10/31/84

Amount of Each
Disbursement This Period

$ 500.00

I. Full Name, Malling Address and ZIP Code
TIM VALENTINE FOR CONGRESS COMMITTEE
BOX 353

Purpose of Disburssment
FUNDRAISER

ROCKY MOUNT, N.C. 27801

Dubursement for: OPrimery 30 General
O Other (specify):

Date imonth,
day, yeer)
10/31/84

Amount of Esch
Disbursement This Period

$1,000.00

SUBTOTAL of Disbursements This Page (optionsl)

$5,500.00

TOTAL This Period (last page this line number only)




. Poge o ___ %
) LINE NUMBER -
SCHEDULE B . ITEMIZED DlSBURSEMEN‘I’ (Use nwot.o schedulels) bor
entegory of the Dersdes
Summary Pege)

Any Information copied from such Reports and Statements May not be soid or used by any person for the purpose of soliciting contributions o for

commercial purposes, other than using the name gnd address of sny politicst committes to solicit conlbuLh:| from such commirtes,

Nome of Committes (in Fulll NATIONAL SECURITY POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE ¥KA AMERICAN SECUR
COUNCIL POLITICAL AC_‘I‘ION COMMITTEE

A. Full Name, Msiling Address and 2(P Code ; Purpte of Disbursemens Date (month, Amount of Each
ARBARA VUCANOVICH FOR CONGRESS RAISER dey, vear) | Disbursement Thi Per i
121 NORTH HENRY STREET 10/31/84 $ 500.00
XJAMES R. RITCHIE Disbursement for: O Primary XIXGenerst
ALEXANDRIA, VA 22314 D Other (specify):

B. Full Name, Mailing Address and 2 P Code Purpose of Disbunement Date (monsh, Amount of Each
P‘ES WATKINS FOR CONGRESS COMMITTEE FUNDRAISER dey, vear) Disbursement Tha Per g
310 EAST CAPITOL, BOX D & . 10/31/84 | $ 500.00
JWASHINGTON, D.C. 20003 Oubursement for: DPrimary RGeneral
O Other (specity):

C. Full Name, Mailing Address and ZIP Code Purpose of Disburement Date (month, Amount of Each

day. year) Ditbursement Thi Perio

~t CHARLIE WILSON COMMITTEE RAlSER

X 19§6 Disbursement for: OPrimary g;neral 10/31/84 $ 500.00
™. LUFkIN, TX 75901 D Other (specity): :

D. Full Name, Mailing Addres and ZIP Code Purpose of Disbursement | Date tmonth, Amount of Each

US YATRON FOR CONGRESS COMMITTEE FUNDRAISER day, vesr) | Disbursement This Peric
908 HESSIAN ROAD 10/31/84 $1,000.00
READING, PA. 19602 . Disbursement for: OPrimary RGeneral Y

p D Onher (specify):

€. Full Name, Mailing Address and 2P Code Purpose of Disbursement Date (month, Amount of Each
CAPITOL HILL CLUB IN KIND CONTRIBUTION day. year) | Disbursement This Peri

300 FIRST STREET, SOUTHEAST CONGRESSMAN TOBY ROTH
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20003 10/31/84 |$ 445.56

Disbursement for: OPrimary 2 General
D Other (specify):

F. Full Name, Mailing Address and 2IP Code Purpose of Disbursement Date (month, Amount of Each

CAPITOL VIEW CATERING,. INC. _ ?stg:msmégrég&lnw day, year) Disbursement This Peric

2725 PENNSYLVANIA AVE., S.E. : 10/31/84 $212.00

WASHINGTON, . D.C...20020 Disbursement for: OPrimary @ General

O Other (specify):

G. Full Name, Mailing Address and ZIP Code Purpose of Disbursement | Date (month, Amount of Each

day, year) | Disbursement This Periox

Disbursement for: OPrimary D General
O Other (specify):

H. Full Name, Mailing Address and ZIP Code Purpose of Disbursement Date (month, Amount of Each

day, year) Disbursement This Period

Disbursement for: OPrimary D Genersl

! O Orher specity):

1. Full Neme, Mailing Address and ZIP Code Purpose of Disbursement - Amount of Each
¥ Disbursernent This

Disbursement for: OPrimary O General
O Other (specity):

SUBY AL of Disbursements This Page {optional) $3.157.56

TOT4  his Period (last page this line number only) . $39,933.56




For 8 Politit.. Committes Other Than an Authorized Commi.. EXHIBIT 4

| :
[ALIGN AREA | - ] fommary fer) | ] ALion Area |

(v Neme of Committes (in Full) 4, TYPE OF REPORT (Check sppropriste boxes)

" American Security Council. Political Querterty
Action Committee FKA Nat{énal Sacurity L D”’" fieastefly egen D ety fiwen

Political Action Comnittee

[ sutv 18 Quarterty meport [ ssnwsry 31 Yeur End epon

Address (Number and Street) 3 D July 31 Mid Yesr Report (Non-Election Year Only)

499 South Capitol Street, S.W. | L0 wonbiy Report tor

m Twelfth dey report preceding __LX€ gﬁnerll
City, State end ZIP Code ) v9e of Elostion)

Washington, D.C. 20003 election on__ in the State of

D Thirtisth day report following the General Election
D Check here if address is ditferent than previously reported.

2.FEC 1dentification Number on in the State of
C00094144

D Termination Report
1if |
3. D This commitiee qualified as s multicandidate commitiee during (b} 15 this R et
this Reporung Period on *

N g ' b= ves ] wo

o SUMMARY

, COLUMN A COLUMN B
T 5.Covering Peivpd __ OCTOBER 1,1984 wroupn _OCTOBER 17,1984 This Period Calondar Yeor4e-Dute

7"3,(.) c.uhcznhnndhnu.rvl,il_s_l'. ............................. ; Va2 :‘. Y .‘ 65.843.61

(b) Cash on Hand st Beginning of Reporting Period s 4.252.8 47

{c) Tots! Receipts {from Line 18) . $ 505. 50 $ 187.971.91

—~  (d)Subtots! (add Lines 6(b) and 6(c) for Column A snd $ s
Lines 6(a) and 6(c) for Column B) 54,758.31 253,815,.52

*© 7.Tots! Disbursements (from Line 28)

$ 4,600.00 $ 203,657.21

-~

8.Cash on Hand at Close of Reporting Period (subtract Line 7 from Line 6(d))

$50,158.31 $ 50,158.31

9.Debts and Obligations Owed TO The Committes - $
(1temize 8!l on Schedule C or Schedule D)
10.Debts and Obligations Owed BY the Committee $
(1temize a!l on Scheduls C or Schedule D) .00

1 certify that | have examined this Report and 10 the best of my knowiedge and beliet
it is true, correct and complete.

_ .00

For further informstion contact:

JOSEPH L. RUTHERFORD Federa! Election Commimion

Type or Rrint Name g5, T, Toll Free 300-424-9530
I//QM NOVEMBER 15, 1984 Loca! 2025234088
i Dms_._lw AMENDMENT DATE

SIGNXTURE OF TREASURER

NOTE: Submission of false, ononoou/ or incomplete informetion mey subject the person sgning this report 10 the pensitiesof 2 US.C. § 437p.

Alm-dmd_!!cCORMSM'EC'OMA&“M-IMMW&-‘

FEC FORM 3X (3/80)




DETAILED SUMMARY PAGE
Reseipts ond Disbunements
Page 2, FEC FORM 3X) 9

S of Commirus (i #o8l  AMFRTCAN SECURITY COUNCIL POLITICAL pcabaend oL ol
. ACTION COMMITTEE FKA NATIONAL SECURITY POLITICAL ACTION| From OCT. 1,1984  ¥o:QCTOBER 17,1984

.. SOMMITIEE

COLUMN B
be Yoor Y.M

0. RECEIPTS
11.CONTRIBUTIONS (other than losns) FROM:
{s) Individus!s/Persons Other ThanPolitical Commitiees. . . . . ... c0ve v
(Memo Entry Unltemized 8. . 455.50
(D) Polltical Party COMMItIONt . . c e e s coosvoclonsnsssnnsocsssoes
() Other. Politice! COMMMIENS. 'c=srs o4 viarelileloto slolars-onsTes farsiis fotel & s .o
(d) TOTAL CONTRIBUTIONS (other theh losns) (sdd 11(s), 91(b) and 11(c)) .

12.TRANSFERS FROM AFFILIATED/OTHER PARTY COMMITTEES. . . ... .

$3.ALLLOANSRECEIVED .. .ccococeccccccccsccccsnocsons

Tt byt o e Al I S s i

14.LOAN REPAYMENTS RECEIVED. ¢ o c ccoveccceenocnacsasss

15.0FFSETS TO OPERATING EXPENDITURES (Refunds, Rebstes, etc.) . . .

<JA6.REFUNDS OF CONTRIBUTIONS MADE TO FEDERAL CANDIDATES . .

AND OTHER POLITICAL COMMITTEES

PN17.0THER RECEIPTS (Dividends, INterest, 016). « < « o v e oo avennnnns.

"~
S 19.0PERATING EXPENDITURES. . . « « o« e o oo vonoencnnnacons

rh

il. DISBURSEMENTS

- 21.CONTRIBUTIONS TO FEDERAL CANDIDATES AND .. ..

OTHER POL!TICAL COMMITTEES

C 22.INDEPENDENT EXPENDITURES (use ScheduleE). . ... ........

~
23.COORDINATED EXPENDITURES MADE BY PARTY COMMITTEES

e

(2US.C. 5441 ofd)) (Use Schedule F)
24.LOAN REPAYMENTSMADE. .. ... ..cccc0vevncns

25.LOANS MADE

ALy B ~_:;—w3

PR = =T e".'f;:-«,,,,r‘.

26.REFUNDS OF CONTRIBUTIONS TO AR g Ll ?wmuuﬂ-

{a) Individualy/Persons Other Than Politice! Committess. . . . . ... ...

tb) Politics! Party Committess . . . . cccococsescscasonacsos
le) Other Politica! Committess. . . c ccccccococcsnncacsnse

(d) TOTAL CONTRIBUTION REFUNDS (Add 26(s), 26(b) and 26(c)). . . . . . . ...

27.0THERDISBURSEMENTS . . . .®.ccccccccccsnoccscsscscacccanse

28.TOTAL DISBURSEMENTS (add lines 19, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26(d) and 27).

111. NET CONTRIBUTIONS AND NET OPERATING EXPENDITURES

. 29.TOTAL CONTRIBUTIONS (other then losna) from Line 1300 ..............[  505. - 7,971, ‘129

30.TOTAL CONTRIBUTION REFUNDS trom LIne26(d) . . . cccocecncnucnnn. o - 130
31.NET CONTRIBUTIONS (other then losns) (Subtract Line 30 fromLine 28). . ... .. A s

32.TOTAL OPERATING EXPENDITURES frémLIne 19 ... ..covenccnnnnne 11,059.60




'SCHEDULE A

- ITEMIZED RECEIPTS

OUN

OLITICAL AL

.\

SO

K

Any Information sapled from such Reports o Batements Mey Aot be soid o wed by any Peron for the Purpose of soliching sontributions or fer
commertis! PUIPOses, eTher then wing the Aame ond addrem of sny politics! sommires to sofich eontributions from uh commitiee.
Neme of Comminies (in Full) AMERICAN SECURITY :

SECURITY POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE

N DNA

A. Full Neme, Malling Adérem and 2P Code
Mr. :.‘.lo Boline

Minneapolis, Mn., 55403

1200 Ricollet Mall Apartment 620

‘| Narms of Employer
Inforzation requasted

4in letter dated

Rovezber 15, 1984

Receipt For:
© Other bpecify):

O Primery + O Genersl

Occupstion

Dot (month,
dey, yeor)

10/10/84

Agorepete Yesr40-Dete-8§ 210.00

Amount of Each
Receipt this Period

$50.00

8. Fult Name, Malling Addrem and Z2IP Code

Neme of Employer

Raceipt For: O Primery
O Other (specity):

O Genenl

Amount of Esch
Receipt This Pariad

C. Full Neme, Malling Address snd ZIP Code

Recsipt For: O Primary O Geners!

O Otherspecify):

Occupstion

Agorepate Year1o-Dete—8

Amount of Esch
Receipt This Period

D. Full Name, Malling Address snd ZIP Code

A
oc
T
»

-

Name of Employer

Receipt For:
O Other (specify):

D Primary O Genera!

Occupstion

Dete (month,
day, yesr)

Aggresste Yearto-Dete—$

Amount of Exch
Receipt This Pericd

E. Full Name, Mailing Address and ZIP Code

Name of Employer

Receipt For:
O Other (specity):

D Primary O Geners!

Occupstion

Date (month,
day, yesr)

Aggregate Yesr-to-Dete-=8 -

Amount of Each
Receipt This Period

F. Full Name, Msiling Address and ZIP Code

Name of Employer

Raeceipt For: O Primery
O Other lspecity):

O General

Occupstion

Dete imonth,

I day, yeer)

Agoregate Yesr4o-Dete-$

Q. Fuli Neme, Malling Addram and ZIP Code

Name of Employer

Receipt For: O Primary O Genera!

O Other lspecity):

SGecwpstion

Aggremte Yes 40-Dete-$

SUBTOTAL of Recelpts ThisPage loptiona!) . . .. .. .o coave o




S.';CHEDULE B ' ITEMIZED DISBURSEMENTS (Use sepatate uﬁoducls) for eech
' . category of the Detailed
Summary Page)

Any information copied from such Reports and Sistements may not be so!d or used by any person for the purpose of soliciting contributions or lor
commercial purposes, other than using the neme and address of any politice! committes to solicis contributions 1rom such commistes.

Name of Comminee (in Fulll  AMPRICAN SECURITY COUNCIL POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE FKA NATIONAL
SECURITY POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE

A, Full Name, Mailing Address ond ZIP Code Purpose of Disbursement Date (month, Amount of Esch
T.V. DOCUMENTARIES INTERNATIONAL, INC. T.V. COMMERCIALS dsy. year) Disbursement This Period

BOX 24085 ¥
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20024 ] Disbursement for: CPrimary D Generst 10/10/84 $3’85°°00

O Other (specify):

B, Full Name, Mailing Address and Z WP Code Purpose of Disbursement Date (month, Amount of Each
dey, year) Disbursement This Period

Disbursament for: O Primgry OGenersl!
D Other (specify):

. Full Name, Mailing Address snd 2P Code Purpose of Disbursement Date (month, Amount of Each
day, year) Disbursement This Period

Disbursement for: OPrimary O General
O Other ispecity):

. Full Name, Mailing Address and ZIP Code Purpose of Disbursement Date (month, Amount of Each
day, yesr) Disbursement This Period

= Disbursement for: OPrimary O General
2 : O Other (specity):

. Full Name, Mailing Address and ZIP Code Purpose of Disbursement Date {month, Amount of Each

day, yeer) Disbursement This Period

Disbursement for: DPrimary O Genersl
O Other (specify):

. Full Name, Mailing Address and ZIP Code Purpose of Disbursement Date (month, Amount of Esch
day, year} Disbursement This Period

Disbursement for: OPrimary O Genera!
O Other (specify):

. Full Name, Mailing Address and ZIP Code Purpose of Disbursement Date (month, Amount of Each
day. vear) Disbursement This Period

Disbursement for: OPrimary D Genera!
O Other (specify):

H. Full Name, Mailing Address and 2IP Code Purpose of Disbursament Date (month, Amount of Each
] day, year) Disbursement This Period

Disbursement for: OPrimary OGenegrs!
D Other specify):

1. Full Name, Mailing Addres and 2IP Code Purpose of Disbursement Date (month, Amount of Esch
: day,vesr)  |Disbursement This Period

Disbursement for: DPrimary OGeners!
D Other (specify):

SUBTOTAL of Disbursements This Page (optionat} .

TOTAL This Period (last page this line numberonly) . ... .




* 'SCHEDULE B

ITEMIZED Dlsaunsemanf.

L__ ot 1 for
LINE NUMBER __2)

(Use sepoarate schodulels) for esch
catogory of the Detsiled

Summary Page)

Any information copied from such Reports and Stetements meay not be sold or used by sny person for the Purpose of soliciting contributions or for
commercial purposes, other then using the neme and address of any political committee to solicit contributions frem such committes.

Neme of Committee (in Full)
SECURITY POLITICAL ACTIQN COMMITTEE

. AMERICAN SECURITY COUNCIL POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE FKA NATIONAL

A. Full Name, Malling Addres end ZIP Code

CONGRESSMAN BEN ERDREICH COMMITTEE
BOX 751 o
BIRMINGHAM, ALA. 35203

Purpose of Disbursement
FUNDRAISER

Disbursement for: OPrimary ¥ Geners!
D Other (specify):

Dete (month,
dey, vesr)

10/05/84

Amount of Esch
Disbursement This Period

$250.00

8. Full Name, Msiling Address and Z P Code

HERB BATEMAN FOR CONGRESS COMMITTEE
BOX 1668
GRAFTON, VA. 23692

Purpose of Disbursement
FUNDRAISER

Disbursement for: O Primery
O Other (specify):

Date {month,

day, veasr)
10/12/84

Amount of Esch
Disburssment This Period
$500.00

C. Full Name, Mailing Address and ZIP Code

Purpose of Disbursement

Disbursement for: O Primary
O Other (specify):

Deate (month,
day, yesr)

Amount of Esch
Disbursement This Periog

. Full Name, Masiling Address snd ZIP Code

Purposs of Disburssment

Disbursement for: Dﬁtmry
O Other (specify):

Date (month,
day, vear)

Amount of Each
Disbvmm\ This Period

. Full Rame, Mailing Address and ZIP Code

Purpose of Disbursement

Disbursement for: OPrimary
O Other (specify):

Date {month,
d.vo Vﬂ'l

Amount of Esch
Disbursement This Periog

. Full Rame, Mailing Address snd ZI<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>